





Investing in different types of housing with care and support

Cost-benefit tool for commissioners



Contents

Introduction	1
Purpose of tool	2
Developing a business case for investment in housing with care and support	2
Other limitations	5
Structure of the tool	7
About the tool	7
Step 1: Defining the population needs	7
Step 2: Select which housing with care option you want to compare	8
Step 3: Explore the cost and savings impacts of different models	9
Step 4: Understand the costs and benefits per person	9
National comparations	10
The scenario explained	10
Recommendations	
Appendix 1: Members of the Expert Challenge Group	13
Appendix 2: Literature sources	13

Introduction

This tool has been developed to help commissioners and other local planners consider the relative cost and benefit of different models of housing with care, through the best available data and research evidence. The tool – which enables commissioners to compare the costs and benefits of four key forms of housing with care – residential care home, extra care, sheltered housing and Shared Lives – is the first of its kind and designed to help commissioners develop more robust business cases for housing investment.

This tool is part of the work being delivered by **The Commission on the Role of Housing in the Future of Care and Support**, which was launched in October 2020 with the aim of developing a vision and roadmap for housing with care and support for older people. Funded by the Dunhill Medical Trust, the Commission has reviewed progress of the 2014 Commission on Residential Care's recommendations, taking account of COVID-19, and has considered the roles of all forms of housing services that provide care and support including care homes (both residential and nursing) housing with care (extra care, assisted living and retirement villages), housing with support (retirement housing or sheltered housing) and other forms such as Shared Lives or co-housing.

The Commission is chaired by the Rt Hon Paul Burstow, Professor Julienne Mayer CBE and Sir David Pearson CBE, and is managed by SCIE. The Commission produced an <u>interim</u> <u>discussion paper</u> in February 2021, and a <u>final report and roadmap</u> in November 2021.

In its early deliberations, the Commission identified a gap in evidence about the economic benefits of different models of housing with care and support, with the view that commissioners in local authorities in particular were struggling to find the evidence needed to make the case for investment in new housing with care developments, particularly those where there is currently a national undersupply, such as in extra care provision. This was one of the many barriers which have been identified as critical in inhibiting the growth in the number of housing with care and support developments.

As a result of this issue being raised, it was agreed that further work – funded by Dunhill Medical Trust – would be undertaken to develop an evidence-based resource which could support commissioners with this task.

This is now referred to as a tool. The tool is designed to enable commissioners to explore the financial costs and benefits of developing four types of housing with care and support: extra care, residential care homes, Shared Lives and sheltered housing. It has been developed jointly by SCIE and PPL, a social enterprise consultancy.

In collaboration with Dunhill Medical Trust and the Commission Chairs, an Expert Challenge Group was established which provided guidance throughout the modelling process (from design through to final development). The group consisted of experts in economic modelling, commissioning and development, and provision of housing with care and support (see **Appendix 1** for list of experts).

The tool was developed through a mixed-method research approach which involved:

An extensive review of relevant data and literature (see for the list of sources)

- Interviews with 20 policy-makers, commissioners and representatives of operators or providers of different types of housing with care and support
- Two meetings with the Expert Challenge Group to discuss the outputs of the work
- Testing of the draft economic tool with a number of local authority commissioners and a representative from a major provider of extra care and residential care.

The tool brings together and applies the best available data, but as we point out later in this report, there are gaps in the data available and further research is needed to help commissioners and planners develop more robust economic models, including those which take into account a broader range of social impacts linked to different forms of housing with care.

Note on definitions

The definitions applied for housing of this nature is complicated and there are some disagreements on the best ways to describe specific types of housing. For the purposes of this work, the four types of housing covered by this tool – residential care homes, extra care, sheltered housing and Shared Lives – will be referred to as **housing with care and support**.

Purpose of tool

This tool is designed to enable commissioners to explore the cost, benefits and cost savings of investing in different forms housing with care and support. It aims to produce data which can be used to inform the development of local strategic business cases in relation to future housing with care and support developments. The primary audience for the tool is commissioners from local authorities, but the tool may also be of use to those who are seeking to develop plans for housing with care and support and want to understand the cost and benefits of different scenarios.

This tool has been developed to support commissioners make the case for investment in different models of housing with care and support, it does not seek to provide an answer about what housing you need.

The tool should be used in conjunction with a wider range of activities which can be deployed to build a picture of what housing with care and support is needed. In developing these business cases or investment plans, a range of activities is usually undertaken. From our review of literature and interviews with commissioners, we have identified 12 stages of activity (although the order in which these occur may vary) in developing a business case for investment in housing with care and support. As depicted, the tool can be most effectively deployed as part of stage eight in the process: to help commissioners and planners understand the costs and benefits arising from different types of housing with care and support.

Developing a business case for investment in housing with care and support

- Understanding demand, through analysing local demographic, economic and social trends and carrying out demand projections
- 2. Understanding the local market including the factors driving the local market, the

- current capacity and capability in the marketplace, scope for innovation and new models of housing with care and support, and what business opportunities exist
- 3. Understanding the existing supply of housing with care, including by type of housing with care and support, tenure, occupancy rate, housing conditions etc.
- 4. Conducting research into what local people want from housing with care and support in the future, including their financial circumstances, fears and preferences
- Co-producing with local people to explore their needs, preferences and, aspirations and to inform each step in the development of plans for new housing with care and support
- 6. Understanding the current commissioning landscape, including what is currently commissioned, the nature of contracts, future commissioning priorities, and potential knock-on effects of investing in different models on the rest of the market
- 7. Benchmarking and national research to examine developments in other parts of the country and the latest innovations
- 8. Assessing the costs and economic benefits associated with different types of housing with care and support (Commissioner's Cost-benefit Tool)
- 9. Engaging with wider system partners, such as the NHS, voluntary and community sector, housing providers, planners, local politicians and providers of housing with care and support
- 10. Exploring revenue, capital and investment options to fund housing with care and support developments
- 11. Assessing the implications of investment options in relation to the Social Value Act, and its requirement that developments will improve the economic, social and environmental wellbeing of the relevant local area
- 12. Developing a full business case for investment

Figure 1: Developing a business case

Commissioner's Cost-benefit tool

UNDERSTAND DEMAND

Understanding demand through analysing local demographic, economic and social trends and carrying out demand projections



UNDERSTAND HOUSING SUPPLY

Understanding the existing supply of housing with care, including by type of housing with care and support, tenure, occupancy rate, housing conditions



CO-PRODUCTION

Co-production with local people to explore their needs demand aspirations and to inform each step in the development of plans for new housing with care and support



QUAL/QUANT RESEARCH

Qualitative and quantitative research with local people to explore local people's aspirations. fears and preferences



PARTNER **ENGAGEMENT**

Engagement with wider system partners, such as the NHS voluntary and community sector, housing providers, planners, politicians and providers of housing with care and support.



INVESTMENT **IMPLICATIONS**

Assessment of the implications of investment options in relation to the Social Value Act. and its requirement that developments will improve the economic social and environmental wellbeing of the relevant local area





UNDERSTAND LOCAL MARKET

Understanding the local market including the factors driving the local market, the current capacity and capability in the marketplace, scope for innovation and new models of housing with care and support and what business opportunities exist



CUSTOMER RESEARCH

Conducting research into what local people want from housing with care and support in the future. including their, financial circumstances, fears and preferences



UNDERSTAND COMMISSIONING LANDSCAPE

Understanding the current commissioning landscape, including what is currently commissioned, the nature of contracts, future commissioning priorities, and potential knock on affects of investing in different models on the rest of the market



ASSESS COSTS & BENEFITS

Assessing the costs and economic benefits associated with different types of housing with care and support



support developments

Exploring revenue, capital and investment options to fund housing with care and

EXPLORE

COMMERCIAL

OPTIONS



FULL BUSINESS CASE

Develop full business case for investment

Finally, the tool does not provide an answer on the issue of what constitutes a good or high-quality housing with care and support development. The Commission has identified **seven principles of excellence** (see page 39 in report) which should be reflected in future housing with care and support developments, both new and existing. By undertaking the range of activities discussed above, it is expected that local plans will emerge that will lead to housing options that meet these principles.

Further information and examples of good practice in developing business plans for new investments can be found on the Housing LIN website, and in a recent paper by the Local Government Association and Housing LIN.¹

The tool will help you:

- produce indicative, high-level outputs about the comparative cost and benefits of different potential housing developments
- understand the different costs that need to be considered in relation to different types of housing
- explore the benefits of different models of housing for the wider health system.

The tool is *not* appropriate for helping you:

- map the current state of provision or where the gaps in supply are
- assess the extent to which the new housing development might improve the economic, social and environmental wellbeing of the relevant local area, therefore helping the Commissioning organisation meet the requirements set out in the Public Services (Social Value) Act (2012)
- understand what a good development looks like, e.g. the size of development, what the right mix of tenants or residents is, and issues around quality and the location of housing
- explore the unintended consequences of moving from one supply of housing with care to another, which might lead to short- and long-term capacity and quality problems, e.g. if one provider decides to hand back contracts during a transition to a new model

Other limitations

Paucity of data

There is widespread acknowledgement that data and evidence on housing with care is underdeveloped. There are significant gaps in the evidence base about what works and the regular, consistently collected data on costs and benefits of different housing types. This has meant that there are gaps in some of the data available, as well as inconsistent modes of data collection and timings of data collection. Some of the data we looked at has not been updated for several years.

Definitions

Several interviewees referred to the inconsistent way in which terminology is being used by different stakeholders when describing the range of housing models for older people. It is

https://www.local.gov.uk/sites/default/files/documents/5.17%20-%20Housing%20our%20ageing%20population_07_0.pdf

clear that there also exist divergent views on what level and type of care should be offered by each housing with care and support type. A particular challenge can be when different models get conflated, such as sheltered housing and extra care, or when the term retirement housing is used to describe a range of different models. This has made the development of this tool significantly more challenging. These is an urgent need for clearer definitions for the different housing with care options if we are to expand a tool such as this to include other forms of housing with care.

Use of national data

The data in the tool is largely drawn from national sources, such as the Adult Social Care Finance Return, which is part of Adult Social Care Outcome Framework. However, the costs associated with different forms of housing with care and support can vary hugely across the regions. The tool therefore will not automatically reflect locally sensitive data. However, there is a provision in the economic tool to populate it with local data, where this is available, and can therefore be tailored to reflect local needs.

Inconsistent approaches to data collection

Data on each of the models is not always collected in the same way or to the same standard, and in some cases is collected for some types of housing and not others. For instance, there is insufficient national data on the price of different housing options and on some of the bottom-up costs associated with some of the models, e.g. build costs and 'background' or core care costs which include the provision of 24-hour care cover.

Data on the wider social impact of different models is limited

Stakeholders told us that they would like the tool to help them understand the impact of different housing models on the wider system so that commissioning can be done in an informed way to reduce the burden on health and care services and to improve outcomes for people accessing support.

The research that informed this tool found that the data on the wider social and health impacts of different models is limited and contested – with academics and researchers in disagreement about which sources can safely be used in this model as a fair basis for comparison. While some research covers the impacts of different housing models on issues like falls, the findings from these studies are highly contested and cannot be compared between housing models. We have added some data about the impact of the models on the NHS, but this is limited. Further research is needed to establish, robustly, the impact of different housing with care models on health outcomes and their role as part of a wider prevention strategy

Structure of the tool

The tool has three key components:

- A summary report: gives a full introduction to the tool and key elements of the model, national estimates on potential costs and benefits nationally of investment in different models, and recommendations on how improvements to the evidence could be made in the future
- A user guide: gives a brief introduction to the tool and explains how commissioners can
 use it, using worked examples
- The cost-benefit tool: in the form of an Excel model which enables the Commission to explore a range of different scenarios

The tool helps commissioners assess the extent of any cashable savings and cost avoidance from different housing options when they are compared, such as extra care compared to residential care or residential care compared to Shared Lives.

The tool should be used as one method within a range of approaches to building an evidence-based case for investing in housing with care, and we provide case studies of good practice to accompany this tool.

About the tool

This tool aims to help commissioners compare the costs of different options as part of plans to change the mix of housing with care available locally. A more detailed **user guide** is provided with the tool.

Step 1: Defining the population needs

This requires the user to think through and define the population they want to house in different models of housing with care. The tool does not provide help for you understand current or projected future needs in your local area.

To determine the figures on current need, we suggest using one of the following tools:

- Strategic Housing for Older People (SHOP): Produced by Housing LIN SHOP@ and supports users to prioritise the future housing needs for older people by enabling the user to either enter local data on the demand for specialist accommodation for older people (including sheltered housing, extra care housing and residential), or benchmark against a selection of other indicators.
- Housing for Older People Supply Recommendations (HOPSR): Developed by Sheffield Hallam University, the Housing for Older People Supply Recommendations (HOPSR) is a new tool to help local authorities understand the requirements for older people's housing in their area.

The tool can enable you to input data on:

• The number of **people over 65** that need to live in the different housing options

- Their level of need in terms of low, medium and high in terms of hours of home care (this framework is taken from the Housing LIN Extra Care Resource Pack²). However, it is possible to adjust the number of hours of each level of need depending on how this is calculated locally. Presently this calculates need as high needs as 15+ hours per week with average at 18 hours per week; medium needs being between six and 14 hours per week with average at 10 hours per week and low needs: being between 0 and five hours per week with the average at three hours per week
- The person's **financial status** (does the person pay for their own care, are they eligible for all of their care to be paid for, or do they pay for part of their care)
- Whether they receive Attendance Allowance

The user guide sets out in more detail how these elements can be input.

Step 2: Select which housing with care option you want to compare

The tool allows you to compare four different housing with care types: residential (non-nursing) care homes, extra care, sheltered housing and Shared Lives. These are described in more detail here:

- Residential care homes without nursing care. Residential care homes are places
 where personal care and accommodation are provided and regulated together as one
 package. People may live in this form of housing for short or long periods. While care
 homes are often used for respite care, for many people it is their sole place of residence
 and so it becomes their home, although they do not legally own or rent it.
- Extra care housing. These are purpose-built (or purpose-adapted) with accommodation that is owned, part-owned or occupied under a tenancy agreement. Staff are based 24 hours a day on site, with optional care and domestic services available. Individual, self-contained accommodation is in a building specifically designed to facilitate the delivery of personal care and support to older adults; with access to, when needed, extensive amenities such as shops, hair salons and restaurants on site or in the wider community.
- **Sheltered housing** (also known as retirement housing or retirement flats) consists of self-contained homes for sale, shared-ownership, or rent and have scheme managers and emergency call systems. It usually has a shared lounge and may have a shared garden, laundry facilities and a guest room. Typically, it consists of 40–60 units.
- Shared Lives supports adults over the age of 16 with learning disabilities, mental health problems or other needs that make it hard for them to live on their own and is regulated by the Care Quality Commission. It is also growing in popularity for older age groups and is seen as an alternative to supported living or residential care. The schemes match someone who needs care with an approved carer. The carer shares their family and community life and gives care and support to the person with care needs.

Step 3: Explore the cost and savings impacts of different models

The 'Project costs + benefits' tab allows the user to create a bottom-up costs and benefit estimate for a specific housing with care development. It is a template which captures the main categories of costs and benefits. Users can input the local cost and benefits associated with a new development. Users are prompted with expected cost-benefit categories and also have the choice to add additional cost-benefit categories not outlined on the table. The tab also provides a summary of the total cost benefits inputted by the user. Please refer to the user guide for step-by-step instructions.

Step 4: Understand the costs and benefits per person

The user also has the option on the 'User inputs' tab to assess the individual cost benefits per person. The user can further tailor the individual characteristics (e.g. level of need) to understand the cost benefits.

The user guide provides more detail of how you input this data and how you can vary your inputs.

National comparations

As part of this study, SCIE was also asked to develop a national estimate on the cost and benefits of investing in different models of housing with care and support.

The quality and the robustness of the economic estimates depends on having high-quality data, and there are significant weaknesses with, and gaps in, the data available. Key limitations include:

- Lack of high-quality projections of future housing needs by population age, health status and characteristics
- Lack of comparable data between model about land costs and cost of care, with costs of care staff and land varying enormously between regions
- Lack of comparative costs data, with some data sets on costs collected at different times.
- Lack of data on wider economic benefits of different models of housing, e.g. on employment and inward investment.

It has not been possible given these challenges with the data and evidence base, and with the limited resources and time available, to undertake a sophisticated analysis of future costs and benefits of different model, including in making an assessment of the economic impact of supporting different population cohorts in the future, or in assessing the wider economic benefits of different models.

It is possible, however, to undertake a limited comparison of the benefits (in terms of savings to the state) for four models of housing with care and support: extra care, residential care, sheltered housing and Shared Lives. This can be done by analysing the care staff and overhead costs of each model and comparing the overall impact on the state. However, there are a number of caveats which are important to consider:

- Care staff costs for residential care homes, retirement housing and extra care are based on a combination of core staff costs and an assumed weighting of hours of care required for each level of need. For medium level of need, this is 10 hours. Core staff costs do not include planned care. If this approach to calculating care staff costs is significantly different to the approach used by local areas, this must be considered when reviewing the national impact below.
- There is a lack of national data on land costs, which anyway vary hugely between parts of England, and therefore these are not included in the modelling for any of the models.
- Evidence for running costs was significantly limited and dated for some housing models, particularly retirement housing. The user should consider this limitation when reviewing the national impact below.

The scenario explained

It is estimated that 250,000 older adults will require housing with care and support by 2030. This figure was taken as a basis for future national demand housing requirements. Of this number, it is estimated by Age UK that 16% of the over-65 age category have medium needs, which equates to 40,000 people if we assume that the level of needs by 2030 remains the same.

The following costs for each model of housing are compared:

- Care staff costs
- Running costs
- The total of care staff costs and running costs

The scenarios then calculate the overall costs or saving to the state resulting from investing in one model compared to another. The table below shows the four models compared to one another.

Housing model comparison		Impact in £ millions for future national demand with medium needs		
Chosen model	'Rather than'	Care staff costs	Running costs	Care staff costs & Running costs
Extra care	Residential care	339	148	488
Extra care	Shared Lives	-5	88	83
Extra care	Retirement housing	0	-20	-20
Residential care	Extra care	-339	-148	-488
Residential care	Shared Lives	-344	-60	-404
Residential care	Retirement housing	-339	-168	-507
Retirement housing	Extra care	0	20	20
Retirement housing	Shared Lives	-5	108	103
Retirement housing	Residential care	339	168	507
Shared Lives	Extra care	5	-88	-83
Shared Lives	Residential care	344	60	404
Shared Lives	Retirement housing	5	-108	-103

Note: figures in red represent a net saving to the state, and figures in black represent a net cost to the state

Key findings

If the state were to fund 40,000 people over 65 with medium need to live in extra care as compared to residential care (care staff costs and running costs only), it would create a net saving of £488m.

If the state were to fund 40,000 people over 65 with medium need to live in residential care as compared to retirement housing (care staff costs and running costs only), it would create a net loss of £507m to the state.

If the state were to fund 40,000 people over 65 with medium need to live in Shared Lives compared to residential care (care staff costs and running costs only), it would create a net saving of £404 net saving to the state.

Recommendations

This research has demonstrated that there is a paucity of high-quality data and evidence available about the costs and economic impact of different models of housing with care and support. While it has been possible to generate from this data a useful model with a specific role which is to help commissioners consider the relative costs and benefits of different models, the data was insufficient to develop a tool that includes other models of housing, such as supported living, and examine the broader societal and economic impacts of different models. Furthermore, while we have been able to develop some basic models which compare the costs and savings to the state of different models, further research, and in our view, better quality data sets on each model would be required to develop a more sophisticated national economic analysis. There is, for instance, a significant gap in the nationally available data about the costs of different staffing models in extra care.

We recommend that the following next steps could be taken to improve the evidence base, and the ability to undertake even better cost-benefit analyses of housing with care:

- Agreeing a consistent definition of terminology when describing the range of housing models for older people
- Gathering additional evidence around extra care, particularly on the staff costs involved
- Gathering additional evidence around the social impact of housing models
- Carrying out more analysis around the impact of housing models on the wider system through prevention (e.g. reduction in falls, GP visit, or hospital admissions), with particular thought to the comparator group when assessing impact
- Conducting additional research exploring how the Public Services Social Value Act can be
 utilised as a lever for investment in housing with care and support that has a greater
 impact on society and the local economy.

Appendix 1: Members of the Expert Challenge Group

- Sir David Pearson CBE, Co-Chair for Commission on Role of Housing in the Future of Care – Chair
- Iain Baines, Director Adult Services and Wellbeing, Calderdale Council
- Ian Copeman, Director of Operations, Housing LIN
- Nicholas Bungay, Director of Strategy & External Affairs, Habinteg
- Aileen Evans, Chief Executive, Grand Union Housing
- Dr José-Luis Fernández, Director Care Policy and Evaluation Centre, LSE
- Alex Fox, Chief Executive, Shared Lives Plus
- Sam Monaghan, Chief Executive, MHA Housing

Appendix 2: Literature sources

The following documents were reviewed and used as part of gathering and interpreting information used in this report and tool.

For a full list of the references used for each aspect of the tool, please see the tab 'Database' on the **Cost-benefit tool spreadsheet**.

Age UK (2019) Retirement housing: https://www.ageuk.org.uk/globalassets/age-uk/documents/policy-positions/housing-and-homes/ppp_retirement_housing_england.pdf

ARCO (2020a) The Housing-with-Care Task Force, 2020 overview: https://www.ageing-better.org.uk/context-state-ageing-2020

ARCO, (2020b) Coming of age? Better housing options for older people: https://www.arcouk.org/resource/coming-of-age-better-housing-options-for-older-people

British Property Federation (2020) Housing and care for older people, Defining the sector: https://bpf.org.uk/our-work/research-and-briefings/housing-and-care-for-older-people-defining-the-sector/

Brookes, N and Callaghan, L (2014) Shared Lives – improving understanding of the costs of family-based support https://www.pssru.ac.uk/pub/uc/uc2014/brookes-callaghan.pdf

Care Quality Commission (2020) The state of health care and adult social care in England 2019/20: https://www.cqc.org.uk/sites/default/files/20201016_stateofcare1920_fullreport.pdf

Centre for Ageing Better (2020) State of ageing: https://www.ageing-better.org.uk/context-stat-ageing-2020

Competition and Markets Authority (2017) Care homes market study: final report: https://www.gov.uk/cma-cases/care-homes-market-study#final-report

Communities and Local Government Committee (2018) Housing and older people. House of Commons.

https://publications.parliament.uk/pa/cm201719/cmselect/cmcomloc/370/370.pdf

Department for Health and Social Care (2018) VCSE Review, Action Plan: https://vcsereview.org.uk/2018/05/16/new-action-plan-for-vcse-review-published/

Institute for Public Policy Research, Ethical Care (2019) A bold reform agenda for adult social care: https://www.ippr.org/files/2019-11/ethical-care-nov19.pdf

GrantThornton (2018) Care homes for the elderly: Where are they now: https://www.grantthornton.co.uk/globalassets/1.-member-firms/united-kingdom/pdf/documents/care-homes-for-the-elderly-where-are-we-now.pdf

Holland, C et al, (2015) Collaborative research between Aston Research Centre for Healthy Ageing (ARCHA) and the ExtraCare Charitable Trust (2015):

https://www2.aston.ac.uk/migrated-assets/applicationpdf/lhs/245545-final%20report1.pdf

Health Foundation (2020) Adult social care and COVID-19: Assessing the impact on social care users and staff in England so

far: https://www.health.org.uk/publications/reports/adult-social-care-and-covid-19-assessing-the-impact-on-social-care-users-and-staff-in-england-so-far

Housing LIN (2015) What is extra care housing?:

https://www.housinglin.org.uk/Topics/browse/HousingExtraCare/what-is-extra-care/

Just Group (2020) Care report

2020: https://www.justgroupplc.co.uk/~/media/Files/J/JRMS-IR/news-doc/2020/just-care-report-final.pdf

LGA (2017) Housing our ageing population:

https://www.local.gov.uk/sites/default/files/documents/5.17%20-%20Housing%20our%20ageing%20population_07_0.pdf

Litchfields (2019) Solutions to an age old problem, Planning for an ageing population: https://lichfields.uk/media/5104/solutions-to-an-age-old-problem_planning-for-an-ageing-population.pdf

Mencap (2018) Funding supported housing for all: Specialised supported housing for people with a learning disability: https://www.mencap.org.uk/sites/default/files/2018-04/2018.052%20Housing%20report_FINAL_WEB.pdf

Nuffield Trust (2019) Social care: the action we need, General Election Briefing: https://www.nuffieldtrust.org.uk/files/2019-11/social-care-election-briefing-

web.pdf

PSSRU (2019) Unit costs of health and social care: services https://www.pssru.ac.uk/pub/uc/uc2019/services.pdf

Price Waterhouse Coopers (2018) Who cares? Building the care workforce for the future: https://www.readkong.com/page/who-cares-building-the-care-workforce-of-the-future-pwc-7229378

SCIE, Nesta and Shared Lives Plus (2018) Growing Innovative models of health, care and support for adults: https://www.scie.org.uk/future-of-care/adults

SCIE (2020) Beyond COVID-19: New thinking on the future of adult social care: https://www.scie.org.uk/care-providers/coronavirus-covid-19/beyond/adult-social-care

Shared Lives in England (2020) Shared Lives Plus Annual report 2017–18 https://sharedlivesplus.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2019/06/Shared-Lives-in-England-2017-18-full-report.pdf

Skills for Care (2020) The state of the adult social care sector and workforce in England: https://www.skillsforcare.org.uk/adult-social-care-workforce-data/Workforce-intelligence/publications/national-information/The-state-of-the-adult-social-care-sector-and-workforce-in-England.aspx

Social Care Strategies (2013) The business case for extra care housing at Outwoods in Burton-on-Trent: https://www.socialcarestrategies.co.uk/wp-content/uploads/2018/01/Extra-Care-Housing-Report-Burton-on-Trent-v4.pdf

The Extra Care Charitable Trust (2019) Integrated homes, care and support: Measurable outcomes for healthy ageing https://www.extracare.org.uk/media/1169231/full-report-final.pdf

The King's Fund (2020), Social care 360: https://www.kingsfund.org.uk/publications/social-care-360

The Strategic Strategy Centre (2016) Valuing retirement housing: Exploring the economic effects of specialist housing for older people:

https://www.housinglin.org.uk/_assets/Resources/Housing/OtherOrganisation/Valuing -Retirement-Housing.pdf

Think Local Act Personal (2018) Making it Real: How to do personalised care and support, https://www.thinklocalactpersonal.org.uk/makingitreal/

